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Key Figures – Group
2018

2017

NOK mill.

NOK mill.

EUR mill.

14 160

13 472

1 425

1 394

1 617

140

EBIT

452

970

45

EBT

113

545

11

Profitt/loss for the year

83

445

8

13 245

12 926

1 332

Equity

2 231

2 604

224

Net interest bearing debt

6 598

6 513

664

Available liquidity**

3 481

1 914

350

Total number of man-years worked

4 567

4 342

Operating revenues
EBITDA

Total assets

* Figures translated to EUR, rate of exchange as at 31.12.2018
** Includes unused loan fiacilities and liquid short-term shareholdings

2018 *

4

1 394

13 245

EBITDA

Total Assets

NOK mill.

NOK mill.

14 160
13 472
Operating revenues
Figures in NOK million

12 635
12 197
11 683
11 322

10 502

‘11

10 734

‘12

‘13

‘14

‘15

‘16

‘17

‘18

Color Hybrid
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Investments

Color Group
Color Group AS is the parent company of Color Line AS, which conducts the operating
activities. Color Group is wholly owned by O.N. Sunde AS. Color Line is Norway’s largest –
and amongst Europe’s leading – short-sea shipping companies.

The company is now the only shipowner headquartered
in Norway with ships registered in the Norwegian
Ordinary Register operating in the international passenger
and freight markets to and from Norway. The company
employs approximately 2 400 man-years in four
countries and annually carries just under four million
passengers and 180 000 freight units (12m equivalents).
The company applies a clear strategy of differentiation
in its seven-ship fleet. On the service between Oslo
and Kiel in Germany the company operates two ships
offering quality cruises and transport services, as well
as the recently-acquired ro-ro vessel Color Carrier,
representing a move into a new area of business: ro-ro
cargo shipment. The services between Kristiansand and
Larvik in Norway, Hirtshals in Denmark, and between
Sandefjord and Strømstad, offer retail sales and efficient
transport solutions.
The ships (with the exception of M/S Color Carrier)
offer conference facilities, hotel accommodation,
restaurants, shops and entertainment. In addition,
the company develops travel and adventure tourism
concepts and provides freight and forwarding services.
The environment
Shipping will play a key role in the efforts of Norway
and other countries to reach their climate goals as
defined by the UN and the IMO, the UN’s specialised
shipping agency, the European Union and national
authorities. The company supports the work of the

authorities and the international community to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions. The company supports the
environmental vision formulated by the Norwegian
Shipowners’ Association of zero emissions of harmful
substances.
Plug-in hybrid ship
Color Line has placed an order with shipbuilders
Ulstein Verft for the construction of the world’s largest
plug-in hybrid ship, M/S Color Hybrid. Delivery will
take place in June 2019, and the new ship will operate
on the Sandefjord to Strömstad service. The ship will
have the capacity to carry 2 000 passengers and 500
cars and will operate entirely on battery power when
sailing up and down the fjord leading to Sandefjord.
Results reported in 2018
The company recorded sales in 2018 of NOK 5 141
million an EBITDA of NOK 1 217 million, an all-time
record for the company. The ships carried 3 780 748
passengers and over 182 632 freight units (12m equivalents). There are approximately 6 200 crossings a year.
Outlook
The company is expecting earnings in 2019 to match
those reported in 2018.
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36 %

58 %

Share of total
revenues

Share of total
assets

2018

2017

Operating revenues

5 141 167

4 967 519

EBITDA

1 217 323

1 179 501

EBIT

685 516

630 191

EBT

524 752

440 156

Total assets

8 567 301

7 207 964

Equity

2 065 194

2 189 755

Net interest bearing debt

3 810 616

3 175 541

2 376

2 351

Figures in NOK 1000

Total number of man-years worked

Investments

Gresvig
Gresvig Retail Group (GRG) is a nationwide chain of sporting goods stores comprising the
retail chains G-SPORT / G-MAX, Intersport, and Sportshuset Outlet. GRG has a market
share of just under 30 per cent. The network of stores numbers 210 sporting goods stores, of
which 108 are company-owned and 102 are operated by franchisees. The company employs
1 250 man-years.
Results 2018
Net sales for all chain stores amounted to approximately
NOK 4 169 million. This represent an increase of
approximately 3.2 per cent on 2017.
Gresvig Retail Group recorded total operating revenues
in 2018 of NOK 3 506 million and an operating loss
(EBITDA) of NOK -232 million. This result was substantially poorer than the figure recorded in 2017.
Realisation of surplus goods at lower margins has
significantly impacted the company’s EBITDA. Costs
relating to reorganisation have been charged to the
income statement (Other costs) for 2018 in the amount
of NOK 248 million. This figure relates largely to the
writing down of inventories and costs associated with
provisions for lease liabilities on premises. In the autumn
of 2018, the Group was refinanced with an injection
of fresh equity capital.
Persistent operating problems with the company’s
e-commerce solution during 2017 and most of 2018
served to reduce the top line as a result of lost online
sales. Moreover, this also had a negative effect on footfall
in the physical stores. Lower than expected turnover has
resulted in inventory build-up. The company launched
new e-commerce web pages in November 2018. The
overall picture in terms of competition and the need for
clearance sales of stocks of goods have resulted in reduced
margins. The reduced margins and the operating problems
encountered by the e-commerce solution are the primary
reason for the poor performance recorded in 2018.

Over the last two years, changes have been made to the
organisation and operating structure of the company. The
chains have been rebranded with franchise operations in
the Intersport business and self-owned operations in the
G-SPORT / G-MAX businesses. Intersport has established a more clearly-defined position for itself in the
market. During 2019, the positioning of G-SPORT /
G-MAX in the market will be made more clearly-defined.
The company has also strengthened management and
organisation of Purchasing and Category as well as within
IT and Digitalisation. In November 2018, Lars Kristian
Lindberg was appointed the new Chief Executive Officer
of the company. The retail trade is undergoing farreaching changes and there will be a major shift in focus
towards multichannel sales, marketing and store efficiency.
The outlet sector has developed well in Norway in
recent years. GRG established a new business area in
the form of Sportshuset Outlet in 2018 comprising
20 stores focusing on quality products at low prices
and with low operating costs.
Outlook
The intensity of competition in the industry is expected
to remain high, with an increasing proportion of sales
and marketing occurring online. The company’s new
e-commerce solutions will enable a sharp growth in
online sales. The company is also expecting to see
the effects of the newly-established outlets and the
associated impacts on the ability of the other chains to
enhance their customer focus and achieve sustainable
margins in 2019.
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25 %

16 %

Share of total
revenues

Share of total
assets

2018

2017

3 505 503

3 364 864

EBITDA

-232 478

-50 545

EBIT

-563 840

-123 879

EBT

-612 669

-193 518

Total assets

2 652 053

2 804 056

Equity

1 372 993

1 514 978

140 606

432 633

1 250

1 104

Figures in NOK 1000

Operating revenues

Net interest bearing debt
Total number of man-years worked

Unaudited group figures

Investments

ONS Ship Finance
Some aspects of the Group’s shipping investments are conducted through separate
ship-owning companies, which in turn are concentrated in the ONS Ship Finance
sub-group. From the perspective of risk and financial flexibility, this structure is
considered to be advantageous.

At year-end 2018, ONS Ship Finance’s portfolio
numbers two ships.
Superspeed 2 is a combined car and passenger ferry
and operates on the Larvik to Hirtshals service.
The ship has made up part of the ONS Ship Finance
portfolio since she was delivered in 2008 and is on
lease to sister company Color Line Transport under
a contract that runs until 2025.
Sun Enabler is an IMR subsea vessel built in 2009
and acquired in 2017. At the end of 2018, the company
secured employment for the vessel with Østensjø
Rederi until the end of 2020.
In August 2018, ONS Ship Finance sold the Superspeed 1 to sister company Color Line Transport AS.
The purchase price was NOK 580 million.
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1%

8%

Share of total
revenues

Share of total
assets

Figures in NOK 1000

2018

2017

Operating revenues

122 724

210 907

EBITDA

121 728

207 357

EBIT

100 940

126 115

EBT

273 009

89 015

1 349 384

2 466 613

Equity

543 766

962 197

Net interest bearing debt

538 292

961 723

-

-

Total assets

Total number of man-years worked

Investments

Sunpor Kunststoff
Sunpor Kunststoff GmbH is a petrochemical manufacturer and produces the plastic raw
material Expandable Polystyrene (EPS) at two production plants in St Pölten in Austria.
Production started in 1988 and the company is Europe’s third-largest producer of EPS.

The primary application of EPS is in the production of
thermal insulation panels for use in the construction
industry, but it is also used in insulating and impactresistant packaging.
Earnings reported for 2018
In 2018, the company reported a turnover of NOK
3 751 million and contributed an EBITDA to the
Group of NOK 285 million, before royalty payments
of NOK 82 million to O.N. Sunde AS for licence rights.
The business employed 184 man-years in 2018. With its
production capacity of 230 000 tonnes p.a., Sunpor is
Europe’s third largest producer and has a market share
of approximately 12 per cent.
Technological platform
The company has succeeded in developing a new
generation of EPS called LAMBDAPOR®, known as
“grey” EPS, which, aided by special additives and a
unique production process, provides an insulation
efficiency that is 25 per cent higher than traditional
“white” EPS. Production capacity for LAMBDAPOR®
has now reached 130 000 tonnes a year.
LAMBDAPOR® is produced using a patented process.

Outlook
We are expecting a general expansion in the European
market for EPS in the coming years in response to
the enactment of new regulations on energy-saving.
Sunpor’s production capacity means that the company
will be well placed to meet this increase in demand.
Sunpor’s patented product LAMBDAPOR® is facing
competition from similar products. The company
is continuing its ongoing product development
programme in order to maintain its competitive
product portfolio.
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26 %

10 %

Share of total
revenues

Share of total
assets

2018

2017

3 751 107

3 390 562

EBITDA

285 204

318 186

EBIT

187 075

220 150

EBT

176 946

194 004

1 442 085

1 556 450

Equity

536 849

487 021

Net interest bearing debt

567 335

575 672

184

180

Figures in NOK 1000

Operating revenues

Total assets

Total number of man-years worked

The figures are shown as total contribution to the profit/loss of the O.N. Sunde Group
Unaudited group figures

Investments

Voice
Voice Norge AS (Voice) is the O.N. Sunde Group’s retail clothing arm and operates through
the retail chains Match, VIC and Boys of Europe.

The company has 241 stores nationwide, of which
187 are company-owned stores and 54 operated by
franchisees. The company employs approximately
752 man-years (full-time equivalents).
The company develops its own collections and brands
tailored to the individual chains, including Henry
Choice, Mario Conti, Blu and Jean Paul. Jean Paul
is one of Norway’s biggest clothing brands measured
in terms of retail sales. In addition, the company
distributes well-established external brands.
In 2018, the chains (company-owned stores and franchises) reported total sales of NOK 1 953 million, which
represents a market share of just over 6.3 per cent
(6.1 per cent in 2017) (Source: Kvarud Analyse
clothing chains 2018).
Sales by the chains Match, VIC and Boys of Europe
increased by 1.4 per cent overall. Moreover, Match
and Boys of Europe recorded like-for-like growth
of 1.4 percent and 0.4 per cent, respectively.
Developments in profits in 2018
Voice achieved operating revenues of NOK 1 733
million in 2018 (NOK 1 718 million in 2017) and
an operating profit (EBITDA) of NOK 198 million
(NOK 221 million).
During 2018, the company launched Matchfashion.no,
the focus of the site being to offer our customers a
seamless experience across physical and online
presences (“clicks and brick”).

The market
Although the Norwegian clothing industry is one of
the largest in the retail sector, growth has been modest
in recent years, due to price reductions and increased
competition from other sales channels, including
foreign online retailers.
As do other sectors, the textile industry suffers from
industry fragmentation. Clothing products form part
of the product ranges offered by several areas within
the retail sector, both online and through traditional
channels.
Outlook
The clothing market in Norway is characterised by
stiff competition, a situation that is expected to
continue. The process of digitalisation ongoing within
the industry and society in general is changing the
conditions under which the retail trade operates.
This calls for the ability to adapt to change in the
form of efficiency improvements, investment in
technology and automation.
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12 %

7%

Share of total
revenues

Share of total
assets

2018

2017

1 733 035

1 718 287

EBITDA

197 729

220 675

EBIT

148 005

178 961

EBT

129 289

175 386

Total assets

883 456

804 775

Equity

221 757

181 946

Net interest bearing debt

117 716

182 916

752

696

Figures in NOK 1000

Operating revenues

Total number of man-years worked

Investments

Other business activities
Other business activities comprise financial investments, the development and management
of commercial real estate properties, and the leasing of ships and aircraft.

Real estate
The Group’s real estate investments comprise commercial properties in the Ålesund region and in central
areas of Eastern Norway. The properties are leased
both to Group companies and to outside third parties.
The total turnover recorded by the property division
in 2018 amounted to NOK 25 million (NOK 25
million in 2017) with an EBITDA NOK 17 million
(NOK 21 million in 2017).
Financial investments
The Financial Investments business segment invests in
shares in listed companies. At year-end 2018, the market
value of the portfolio stood at NOK 179 million (NOK
129 million in 2017). The investment business reported
a total return of NOK 20 million in 2018 (NOK 12
million in 2017). This represented a return of 15.4 per
cent measured against the average capital allocation.
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The Report of the Board
of Directors for 2018
The company / shareholders
O.N. Sunde AS is an industrial investment company
headquartered in Oslo, Norway. The share capital of
the company at 31 December 2018 stands at NOK
502.5 million. All shares of the company are owned
indirectly by Olav Nils Sunde and his family.
The company was founded in 1988.
The Chief Executive Officer is Alexander Sunde (35).
Olav Nils Sunde (66) is the Executive Chairman of
the company.
Operations and areas of business
The parent company, O.N. Sunde AS, is the holding
company of the subsidiaries of the Group, the primary
investments of which are described below:
Color Group/Color Line
Color Line is Norway’s largest - and one of Europe’s
leading - companies in the field of European short-sea
shipping, employing just under 2 400 man-years in
four countries. The company has a fleet of seven ships
and operates four international services between seven
ports in Norway, Sweden, Denmark and Germany.
At present, Color Line is the only shipping company
headquartered in Norway operating international
freight and passenger traffic to and from Norway
using Norwegian-registered ships.
Gresvig
Gresvig Holding AS is the holding company of the
Gresvig Retail Group AS. The group is a nationwide
retail operator and develops and operates retail businesses and chain concepts within the business areas

Sports and Leisure in the form of the retail chains
G-Sport, G-MAX, Intersport, and Sportshuset Outlet.
In 2018, the group reported total operating revenues of
NOK 3 506 million, employed 1 250 man-years and at
year-end 2018 managed 210 chain stores (own stores
and franchises).
ONS Ship Finance
ONS Ship Finance is a ship-owning group that invests
in and leases out ships on long-term contracts. The
group is the owner of the SuperSpeed 2, which is leased
to Color Line Transport, and the Sun Enabler, an IMR
Subsea vessel on lease to Østensjø Rederi. Turnover in
2018 amounted to NOK 123 million and the balance
sheet contains assets of NOK 1 349 million.
Sunpor Kunststoff
Sunpor Kunststoff is a petrochemicals producer,
headquartered and with two production plants in St.
Pölten, Austria. The company is Europe’s third largest
manufacturer of the plastic raw material Expandable
Polystyrene (EPS), and in 2018 reported operating
revenues of NOK 3 751 million (EUR 390 million). The
two factories have a combined production capacity of
230 000 tonnes and employed 184 man-years in 2018.
Voice Norge
Voice Holding AS is the parent company of Voice
Norge AS (Voice). The group is a nationwide retail
operator and develops and operates chain concepts in
the fashion and clothing industry. At retail level, these
concepts are represented in the chains Match, VIC and
Boys of Europe. The company develops its own collections and brands tailored the chains, including Henry
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Choice, Mario Conti, Blu and Jean Paul, as well as
distributing well-established brands. In 2018, the
business recorded sales revenues of NOK 1 733 million,
employed approximately 752 man-years and operated
241 chain stores (own stores and franchises) at year-end.
Other business
Other business comprises investment, the development
and operation of commercial real estate properties, and
the leasing of ships and aircraft. Total turnover in 2018
was NOK 132 million.
Other business also includes Financial Investment
(investments in the shares of quoted companies), which
recorded positive returns in 2018 amounting to NOK
20 million. The market value of the share portfolio at
31 December 2018 was NOK 179 million.
About the annual financial statements
for 2018
The parent company presents its annual financial
statements in accordance with the provisions of NRS
(Norsk Regnskapsstandard – The Norwegian Accounting
Standard) and generally accepted accounting practice.
The financial statements are presented separately in the
annual report on pages 58 through 71.
The O.N. Sunde Group prepares its annual financial
statements in accordance with Section 3-9 of the
Accounting Act (Norway) and the Regulations on
Simplified IFRS enacted by the Norwegian Ministry
of Finance. This largely entails that recognition and
measurement follow international accounting standards
(IFRS as approved by the European Union) while the
information provided in the notes is in accordance with
the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted
accounting practice.
The income statement
(Figures in brackets = same period last year, except as
otherwise specified)

The operating revenues of the group in 2018 totalled
NOK 14 160 million (NOK 13 472). This represents
an increase of 5.1 per cent on 2017. The increases for
the business areas Clothing were 0.9 per cent, Cruise
and Transport 3.5 per cent and Industry 10.6 per cent
(7.5 per cent in EUR), and Sports and Leisure 4.2 per
cent on 2017.
The operating profit before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) amounted to NOK 1 394 million
(NOK 1 617 million) and the ordinary operating profit
(EBIT) was NOK 452 million (NOK 970 million),
reductions on the figures reported for the year before
of 14 per cent and 53 per cent, respectively.
Net cash flow from operating activities was NOK 745
million (NOK 1 205 million).
Net financial items amounted to NOK -339 million
(NOK -425 million). The result for the year is a profit
of NOK 83 million (NOK 445 million).
The underlying operations and earnings reported in
2018 by the business areas Clothing, Cruise and
Transport and Industry were, once again, all satisfactory.
The operations and results reported by the Sports and
Leisure business area are not satisfactory and are far
weaker then 2017 and the figures budgeted for 2018.
Challenging market conditions, the realisation of larger
consignments of goods, as well as persistent operating
problems with the company’s online trading solution
resulted in a negative EBITDA figure for 2018 of NOK
232 million. The reorganisation of the group with the
establishment of the new Outlet business imposed a
further burden on the year’s result, these costs relating
largely to the writing down of inventories and provisions
for lease liabilities on premises. Furthermore, changes
were made to the management of the company,
including the employment of a new chief executive
officer. The financial situation necessitated refinancing
and the injection of new equity capital to Gresvig.
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The parent company recorded an operating profit
(EBITDA) of NOK -8.2 million (NOK 3.5 million).
The profit for the year is NOK 436 million
(NOK 403 million).
Investment activities
Net cash flow from investing activities by the Group
totalled NOK -576 million (NOK -726 million).
Financing activities
Net cash flow from the Group’s financing activities
totalled NOK 350 million (NOK -636 million).
Balance sheet and liquidity
(Figures in NOK million)
The total values on the balance sheet of the Group
at 31 December 2018 stood at NOK 13 245 (NOK
12 926 million). Net interest-bearing debt less bank
deposits and cash holdings amounted to NOK
6 598 million (NOK 6 513 million).
The book equity of the Group stands at NOK 2 231
(NOK 2 604).
At year-end 2018, the liquidity of the Group, including
granted loan facilities and liquid securities, amounted
to NOK 3 481 (NOK 1 914).
Net cash flow from the financing activities of the
parent company totalled NOK -312 million (NOK
-162 million). The book equity of the parent company
is NOK 5 040 million (NOK 4 851 million).
In the judgment of the Directors, the business and
position of the Company and the Group are satisfactory. The Directors are of the view that the annual
financial statements provide a true picture of O.N.
Sunde AS’ assets and liabilities, financial position and
results. The annual financial statements have been
prepared on the assumption that operations will
continue as a going concern.

Financial risk
In its business activities, the Group is exposed to
financial risk in various forms, including fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates, interest rate risk and risk
related to the cost of bunker fuel products.
Financial instruments are used as a buffer against the
risk of fluctuations in the Group’s cash flows. Some of
the Group’s surplus liquidity is invested in listed securities. These are exposed to price fluctuations and risk.
Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk.
Over time, annual losses realised by the Group have
proved to be modest.
Market risk
The exposure of the Group to market risk is limited, as
the Group has no dominant customers; the activities of
its main business areas being targeted at a broad range
of customers. National and international trends and
trade cycles impact on the operations of the Group.
Research and development
The Group conducts activities and incurs costs in
connection with research and development relating to
product development. The parent company does not
conduct activities or incur costs relating to research
and development.
The external environment
Some aspects of the Group’s operations have an impact
on the external environment.
Responsibility for drawing up plans and strategies and
implementing control and management measures rests
with the individual business area. No incidents of
serious harm to the external environment or pollution
were reported in 2018.
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The working environment and equality of
opportunity
In 2018, the parent company employed 7 man-years.
Absence due to sickness in the parent company is of
an insignificant order.
The Group employed a total of 4 567 man-years in 2018.
Absence due to sickness in the Group was approx. 6.3
per cent. The Directors consider the working environment in the Group to be good and will continue
to maintain a sharp focus on working conditions and
absence due to sickness. The individual business area is
responsible for putting in place measures to safeguard
a good working environment and for ensuring compliance with the provisions of the Anti-discrimination
Act and the Anti-discrimination and Accessibility Act.
This applies both to existing personnel and when hiring
new personnel. No major incidents involving serious
personal injuries were reported in 2018. The Group’s
policy in the individual business areas is equal pay for
equal work, irrespective of gender. Women and men
must have equal opportunities for development and
employment in all job categories within the Group.
Of the Group’s employees, 53 per cent are women and
47 per cent are men.
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ment. Based on an assessment of the claims in the writ,
it has not been considered necessary for provisions to
be made in the accounts for the claim.
The European Commission is investigating if a
purchasing cooperation in which Sunpor participates,
is in breach of the European antitrust regulations. In
the judgement of the Directors, the cooperation is fully
legal and Sunpor is fully cooperating with the ongoing
investigations. In this regard, it has not been considered
necessary for provisions to be made in the accounts.
Events after the reporting date
Sandefjord Municipality and Color Line entered into
an agreement on departure times in February 2019.
This agreement will enable Color Line to continue to
operate the environmentally refitted M/S Color Viking
from 2020 together with the M/S Color Hybrid.
In January 2019, Color Line’s fleet was expanded with
the addition of Color Carrier, which will operate an
exclusively ro-ro business between Oslo and Kiel.
The market value of bunker derivatives entered into
with delivery of bunkers in 2019, 2020 and 2021
has had a positive development since 31.12.2018.

The Company has three directors, all male.
Disputes
Color Line and Color Group have been sued by
Nye Kystlink AS, who are claiming damages of up to
approximately NOK 1 303 million. Oslo District Court
dismissed the action in its entirety on the grounds of
time-barring. Nye Kystlink AS have appealed the judg-

Outlook
The Group conducts business within a range of
different industries and geographical areas characterised by increasing competition and partially changed
trading patterns.
The expectation of the Directors is that the result in
2019 will be better than the figure reported in 2018.

Oslo, 27 March 2019

Olav Nils Sunde

Bjørn Paulsen

Chairman of the Board

Director

Morten Garman

Alexander Sunde

Director

Chief Executive Officer
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Income Statement
Amounts in NOK 1000

Notes

2018

2017

2

13 851 395

13 173 770

308 604

297 780

14 159 999

13 471 550

7 824 483

7 177 061

Operating revenues
Sales revenues
Other revenue
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Cost of sales
Cost of wages

3
4,5

2 714 016

2 587 187

2 227 306

2 090 740

12 765 805

11 854 988

1 394 194

1 616 562

10,11

676 474

639 506

17 845

7 257

21

247 900

-

Operating profit (EBIT)

451 975

969 799

Financial income

104 938

70 428

Financial expense

-443 608

-495 581

-338 670

-425 153

113 305

544 646

29 875

99 493

83 430

445 153

-9 965

43 925

-174 410

-3 077

-18 850

8 778

Total other income and expenses net after tax

-203 225

49 626

Total comprehensive income for the year

-119 795

494 779

Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating profit before depreciation
amortisation and write-downs (EBITDA)
Ordinary depreciation and amortisation
Write-downs
Other expenses

Net financial items			

6

Operating profit/loss before taxes
Tax cost				
Profit/loss for the year 		

9

Comprehensive income statement
Other income and expenses
Other items that can be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Currency translation differences
Net gain/loss hedging
Other items that cannot be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Estimate variances pensions
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Balance Sheet - Assets
Amounts in NOK 1000

Note

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

1 103 866

1 103 866

398 222

433 586

1 502 088

1 537 452

Office machines, vehicles, FF&E

307 808

266 539

Production equipment

330 436

383 047

Construction in progress

277 152

223 061

1 264 152

1 294 482

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Total non-current intangible assets

10

Tangible non-current assets

Buildings, land and other real property
Ships etc.
Total non-current tangible assets

11

5 296 833

5 399 139

7 476 381

7 566 268

68 387

36 307

Non-current financial assets
Other non-current receivables
Investments in and loans to associated companies
and other shares

12

47 546

63 753

115 933

100 060

9 094 402

9 203 780

13

1 957 542

2 031 431

14

384 895

471 457

6,16

179 208

129 170

341 142

320 703

1 288 079

769 148

4 150 866

3 721 909

13 245 268

12 925 689

Total non-current financial assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other shares and securities
Other current receivables
Bank deposits, cash in hand etc.
Total current assets
Total assets

16

Financial Statements - Group

25

Balance Sheet – Equity and liabilities
Amounts in NOK 1000

Note

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

17,18

502 536

502 536

18

163 445

163 445

665 981

665 981

1 565 380

1 937 876

Retained earnings

1 565 380

1 937 876

Total equity

2 231 361

2 603 857

9

731 696

793 467

19

79 411

65 853

811 107

859 320

Equity capital
Share capital
Share premium
Total contributed capital
Other equity

18

Provisions and commitments
Deferred tax
Other provisions for commitments
Total provisions and commitments
Non-current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions

8

3 583 184

4 031 343

Bond loans

8

2 560 122

1 874 906

Other non-current liabilities

8

20 907

25 670

6 164 213

5 931 919

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current debt to credit institutions

8

1 213 574

675 150

Bank overdraft

8

528 991

699 572

841 285

906 734

27 111

133 770

321 507

312 066

1 106 119

803 301

4 038 587

3 530 593

13 245 268

12 925 689

Trade payables
Tax payables

9

Unpaid special taxes
Other current debt

20

Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Oslo, 27 March 2019

Olav Nils Sunde

Bjørn Paulsen

Morten Garman

Alexander Sunde

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Group President
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Statement of Cash Flows 1 Jan. - 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK 1000

Note

2018

2017

113 305

544 646

-288

-150

9

-133 770

-57 146

10,11

694 319

646 763

Operating activities
Profit/loss before tax
Gain/loss on sale of PP&E, write-downs
Tax paid
Ordinary depreciation/amortisation/write-downs
Difference between expensed pension and paymenents in/out

19 594

-7 540

Change in inventories, trade receivables and trade payables

95 002

-158 868

Change in other accruals

-43 377

236 858

744 785

1 204 563

-577 348

-769 194

Net cash flow from operating activities
Investing activities
Investments in non-current assets and intangible assets
Sale of non-current assets (proceeds)

10,11
11

Change in other investments
Net cash flow from investing activities

17 218

38 147

-15 861

5 013

-575 991

-726 034

2 918 225

1 350 950

-2 318 088

-1 887 339

Financing activities
Raising of new debt (current and non-current)
Repayment of old debt
Dividend

-250 000

-100 000

Net cash flow from financing activities

350 137

-636 389

Net change in liquid resources during year

518 931

-157 860

Cash and bank deposits at 1 Jan.

16

769 148

927 008

Cash and bank deposits at 31 dec.

16

1 288 079

769 148

Notes - Group

Note 1 – Accounting Policies
O.N. Sunde AS is a limited company registered in
Norway. The head office of the company is at
Bryggegata 3, 0250 Oslo, Norway.

valuation of depreciation entities (decomposition)
is applied in the company financial statements as
in the consolidated financial statements.

The annual financial statements for the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Section 3-9 of the
Accounting Act (Norway) and the Regulations on
Simplified IFRS enacted by the Norwegian Ministry of
Finance on 21 January 2008. This largely entails that
recognition and measurement follow international
accounting standards (IFRS) while the presentation of
the accounts and the information provided in the notes
are in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act
and generally accepted accounting practice in Norway.
The annual financial statements were adopted by the
Board of Directors of the company on 27 March 2019.

• IAS 32 paras. 28-32 is derogated from in that no distinction is made between a liability component and
an equity component where enterprises in the same
group are counterparties. The equity component of
compound financial instruments of this nature is
classified as a financial liability.

The annual financial statements for the parent company,
O.N. Sunde, have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practice in Norway and
the provisions of the Accounting Act and are presented
separately in the Annual Report.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss, financial instruments available for sale measured
at fair value.

1.1 Simplified IFRS
Changes in accounting principles and
restatement of comparative figures
The annual financial statements for 2012 were the first
financial statements presented in accordance with the
rules on simplified IFRS.
Simplifications
The company has applied the following simplifications
in relation to the rules on recognition and measurement
provided for in IFRS:
• IAS 10 paras. 12 and 13 are derogated from in that
dividends and group contributions are reported in
accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act.
• IAS 16 para. 43 is derogated from in that the same

1.2 Basis for the preparation of the annual
financial statements
The consolidated accounts apply the principles of
historical cost accounting, except in the case of the
following accounting items:

1.3 Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the
rate of exchange at the time of the transaction. Monetary
items in foreign currency are translated to Norwegian
kroner by applying the rate of exchange on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items measured at historical
cost expressed in foreign currency are translated into
Norwegian kroner by applying the rate of exchange
at the time of the transaction. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value expressed in foreign currency
are translated using the rate of exchange determined
on the balance sheet date. Changes in exchange rates
are recorded in the income statement as they occur,
over the course of the accounting period.
1.4 The use of estimates in the preparation
of the annual financial statements
The management has applied estimates and assump-
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tions that have impacted on assets, debt, revenues, costs
and information on potential liabilities. This applies in
particular to the depreciation of non-current assets,
measurement of goodwill, assessments in connection
with acquisitions and pension commitments. Future
events may result in changes to these estimates.
Estimates and the assumptions underlying the estimates
are evaluated on an on-going basis. Changes in accounting estimates are recorded in the accounts in the period
in which the changes occur. If the changes also apply to
future periods the effects are allocated over current and
future periods.
1.5 Principles governing the recognition
of income
Income is recorded in the accounts when it is probable
that transactions will generate future financial benefits
that will accrue to the company and when the size of
the amount can be estimated reliably. Sales revenues are
presented exclusive of value-added tax and discounts.
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognised in the
income statement when delivery has taken place and
when most of the risk and reward have been transferred.
Revenues from the sale of services are recognised in the
income statement in line with delivery.
Royalties are recognised in the income statement in
accordance with the terms provided for in the royalty
agreements. Where a payment is made at the time of
the conclusion of the agreement, and the agreement is
not regarded as constituting a sale, assessments must be
performed of whether the payment relates to future use
of the right or constitutes payment for costs expended
in relation to the right being acquired. Payments for
costs expended are recognised in the income statement
at the time at which the right of use is established,
while payments for future use of the right are earned
in line with use.
Rental income from the investment properties (after
deduction of total costs relating to incentives to lessees)
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease.

Interest received is recognised on the basis of the
effective interest method as earned. Dividends from
subsidiaries are recognised as income in the year in
which a provision for the dividend is made by the
subsidiary. Dividend from other companies is recognised
as income when the general meeting of the company in
question adopts a resolution granting the shareholders
a right to a dividend.
Group contribution received from a subsidiary is
recognised as income if it lies within retained accumulated profits in the subsidiary after the time of
investment. When recognised as income the group
contribution is recorded at its gross value (pre-tax)
as a separate item in the income statement. The
repayment of cost reduces the value of the investment
in the balance sheet. The group contribution will
then be recorded net (after taxes).
Group contribution paid to a subsidiary increases the
value of the investment as recorded in the balance
sheet. Group contributions paid are recognised at
net value (after taxes).
1.6 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement when the borrowing cost arises. Borrowing costs
are recorded in the balance sheet insofar as they are
directly related to the production of a non-current
asset. Interest expenses accrue during the construction
period until the asset is recognised in the balance sheet.
Borrowing costs are recorded in the balance sheet until
such time as the non-current asset is ready for use.
If the cost price exceeds the fair value of the asset,
a write-down is performed.
1.7 Income taxes
The tax cost comprises taxes payable and changes in
deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on
all differences between the accounting and tax values
of assets and liabilities.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is likely
that the company will have a sufficient tax surplus in
subsequent periods to take advantage of the tax asset.
The company recognises deferred tax assets not previously recognised insofar as it has become likely that the
company can take advantage of the deferred tax asset.
Similarly, the company will reduce deferred tax assets
insofar as the company no longer regards it as likely
that it will be able to take advantage of the deferred
tax asset.
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on
the basis of anticipated future tax rates relating to the
items where the temporary difference has arisen.
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recorded at
nominal value and are classified in the balance sheet
as non-current financial assets (long-term liabilities).
Taxes payable and deferred tax are charged directly
to equity insofar as the tax items relate to equity
transactions.
1.8 Research and development
Expenses related to research activities are recognised
as they are incurred. Expenses related to development
activities are recorded in the balance sheet insofar as
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the company has sufficient resources to
complete the development process. The expenses
recorded in the balance sheet include the cost of
materials, direct wage costs and a proportion of
directly-attributable shared costs. Development costs
recorded in the balance sheet are recorded at original
cost less accumulated amortisation and write-downs.
Development costs recorded in the balance sheet are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the asset.
1.9 Plant, property and equipment
Plant, property and equipment is measured at original
cost, less accumulated depreciation and write-downs.

When assets are sold or disposed of, the value recorded
in the balance sheet is deducted and any loss or gain is
recognised in the income statement.
The original cost for plant, property and equipment is
the purchase price including taxes and costs directly
related to preparing the non-current asset for use.
Expenses incurred after use of the plant, property and
equipment commences, such as regular maintenance,
are recognised in the income statement, whereas other
expenses expected to provide future financial benefits
are recorded in the balance sheet.
Equipment is depreciated systematically over estimated
useful life, account being taken of any estimated scrap
value. Depreciation periods and method are assessed
annually. Scrap value is estimated at each year-end and
changes in estimates of scrap value are recognised in
the income statement as estimate adjustments.
Construction in progress is classified as a non-current
asset and recorded at cost until production or development has been completed. Construction in progress is
not depreciated until the asset is placed in service.
Own terminal buildings on leased land are depreciated
over the remaining term of the contract of lease, if this
is shorter than the estimated useful life. Investments in
leased operating assets and buildings are accrued over
the remaining term of the contract, if this is shorter
than the estimated useful life of the investments.
1.10 Leasing
(i) The company is the lessee
Finance leases
Contracts of lease where the company takes on the
significant portion of the risk and reward associated
with ownership of the asset are viewed as finance
leases. At the commencement of the term of the lease,
a finance leases are recognised at an amount corresponding to the lower of fair value and the present
value of the minimum lease payment, less accumulated
depreciation and write-downs. When calculating the
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present value of the contract of lease the implicit
interest cost in the contract of lease is applied if it is
possible to calculate this value; if not, the company’s
marginal rate of interest on borrowing is applied.
Direct expenses associated with the establishment
of the contract of lease are included in the cost price
of the asset.
The principles governing the assessment of depreciation
horizon and method are the same as those applied to
the Group’s other equipment. If there is no reasonable
degree of certainty that the company will assume ownership at the end of the term of the lease, the asset is
depreciated over the term of the lease or the economic
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.
Operating leases
Leases where the significant portion of the risk and
reward associated with ownership of the asset is not
transferred are classified as operating leases. Lease payments are classified as operating costs and recognised
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the contract.
(ii) The company is the lessor
Finance leases
The company presents leased-out assets as receivables
equal to the net investment in the contracts of lease.
The financial revenue of the company is determined
so that a constant return is achieved on accounts
receivable over the term of the contract. Direct
costs incurred in connection with establishing the
contract of lease are included in the receivable.
Operating leases
The company presents assets that are leased out as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet. Rental income
received is taken to income on a straight-line basis
over the term of the contract. Direct costs incurred
in establishing the operating lease are added to the
carrying value of the leased-out assets and are expensed
during the term of the lease on the same basis as the
rental income.

1.11 Investment property
Investment property consists of property (land,
buildings or both) used to earn rental income, or
for capital appreciation, or both.
1.12 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded in
the balance sheet at cost with the addition of any
tax, duties and other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. The cost of intangible assets acquired as a
result of a takeover is recorded in the balance sheet at
fair value in the opening balance sheet of the company.
Intangible assets in the balance sheet are recorded
at cost with a reduction for any amortisation and/
or write-downs.
Internally-generated intangible assets are generally
expensed on an on-going basis, except for development costs that fulfil the IAS 38 criteria for recording
as intangible assets. Intangible assets of this nature
are recorded in the balance sheet and, if applicable,
amortised over their expected economic life.
Economic life is either definite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with a definite life are amortised systematically
over their economic life and tested for impairment if
indicated. Amortisation method and period are as a
minimum assessed annually. Changes in amortisation
method and/or period are treated as estimate adjustments.
Intangible assets with an indefinite life are tested for
impairment annually, as a minimum, either individually
or as part of a cash-generating unit. Intangible assets
with an indefinite life are not amortised. Whether or
not their economic life remains indefinite is assessed
annually, and any changes are implemented prospectively.
Patents and licences
Consideration paid for patents and licences is recorded
in the balance sheet and amortised on a straight-line
basis over expected useful life. Expected useful life in
the case of patents and licences varies between 5 and
10 years.
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Software
Expenses relating to the purchase of software are
recorded in the balance sheet as an intangible asset,
if such expenses do not form part of the acquisition
cost of hardware. Software is amortised on a straightline basis over expected useful life. Expenses incurred
in maintaining or safeguarding the future utility of
software is expensed unless the changes to the software
increase the future financial utility of the software.
1.13 Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. Transaction costs are recognised
in the income statement as and when they occur.
The consideration paid for the purchase of a business
is measured at fair value at the time of the acquisition.
Where a business is purchased, all acquired assets
and commitments are assessed for classification and
attribution in accordance with the terms of contract,
economic circumstances and relevant conditions at the
time of acquisition. Acquired assets and liabilities are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value in the opening
balance sheet of the Group, unless IFRS 3 specifies that
other rules of measurement should be utilised.
The purchase price allocation in business combinations
is amended where new information comes to light about
the fair value applicable at the acquisition date. The
allocation may be adjusted up to 12 months after the
acquisition date. Non-controlling ownership interests
are measured as the non-controlling ownership interests’
share of identifiable assets and liabilities or at fair value.
A choice of method is performed for each individual
business combination.
In the case of stepwise acquisitions, previous ownership
interests are measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the value of earlier ownership
interests are recognised in the income statement.

Goodwill is calculated as the total of the consideration
and the value of non-controlling ownership interests
recognised in the income statement and the fair value
of previously owned ownership interests, less the net
value of identifiable assets and commitments calculated
at the time of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised
but is tested for impairment at least annually. In
connection with a write-down assessment, goodwill
is allocated to the associated cash-generating units
or groups of cash-generating units.
If the fair value of net assets in business combinations
exceeds the consideration paid (negative goodwill) the
difference is recognised as income immediately as at
the time of acquisition.
1.14 Public subsidies
Public subsidies are recorded in the accounts when there
is a reasonable degree of certainty that the company
will fulfil the conditions attaching to the subsidies and
that the subsidies will be received. The recording of
operating subsidies is recognised in a systematic way
over the period of the subsidy. Subsidies are charged to
the cost that the subsidy is intended to cover. Investment subsidies are recorded in the balance sheet and
recognised in a systematic way over the useful life of
the asset. Investment subsidies are recognised either
by means of the recording of the subsidy as a deferred
revenue or by deducting the subsidy in connection
with the fixing of the balance sheet value of the asset.
1.15 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the Group balance sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Group financial instruments are classified in the
following three categories: fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and financial liabilities
at amortised cost. Financial instruments of a long-term
character are recorded as financial fixed assets and
non-current debt.
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Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are reported in the balance sheet
at fair value on the day on which the contract is
concluded and thereafter measured at fair value at each
balance sheet date. Any transaction costs are recognised
in the income statement immediately. Trade receivables
and other non-current receivables are recorded on initial
registration at fair value, with adjustment for any transaction costs, and thereafter at amortised cost corrected
for any amounts written down. Non-current receivables
due in less than one year or receivables valued as insignificant are not normally discounted. Accrued services
not yet invoiced are recognised as income at balance
sheet date and recorded as receivables.
Financial liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are reported in the balance sheet
on the day on which the contract is concluded and
thereafter measured at fair value at each balance
sheet date. Any transaction costs are recognised
in the income statement immediately.
Interest-bearing loans are recognised on initial reporting
in the balance sheet at fair value reduced by the amount
of transaction costs. Subsequent reporting is at
amortised cost, with any difference between cost
and redemption amount is recognised over the term
of the contract as part of the effective rate of interest.
Trade payables and other non-current liabilities are
measured on initial recognition in the balance sheet at
fair value and thereafter at amortised cost. Non-current
liabilities due within one year or liabilities valued as
insignificant are not normally discounted. Prepaid
income at balance sheet date is recorded as debt.
Hedge accounting
The group uses financial derivatives earmarked as hedging
instruments in connection with highly probable cash
flows in foreign currencies (EUR and USD) and in the
case of purchases of bunker fuel for the ships. A hedge

is documented as effective on conclusion of the contract
if it counteracts changes in foreign exchange rates and
prices in the cash flows. Hedge accounting is used.
Any ineffective portion of gains or losses is recognised
in the income statement immediately.
Concluded hedging contracts are reported at fair value
at balance sheet date and changes in fair value are
charged to other revenues and costs for the period.
When the hedging contracts are exercised all previous
gains and losses are transferred from equity and
recognised in the income statement.
1.16 Inventories
Stocks of raw materials, finished goods, goods for resale
and bunker fuel products are recognised at acquisition
cost or net sales cost, whichever is the lower. Net sales
cost is estimated sales cost in ordinary operations, less
estimated expenses for completion, marketing and
distribution. Acquisition cost is ascribed on the basis
of the FIFO method and includes expenses incurred
in the acquisition of the goods and the cost of bringing
the goods to their current condition and position. Goods
produced in-house include variable and fixed costs that
can be allocated on the basis of normal capacity use.
1.17 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at acquisition cost or,
if applicable, their written-down amount.
1.18 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and bank deposits. Cash
equivalents are short-term liquid investments that can
be readily converted to a known amount of cash and
with a maximum time to maturity of three months.
In the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts are
deducted from holdings of cash and cash equivalents.
1.19 Equity capital
Liabilities and equity
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity
capital in accordance with the underlying economic reality.
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Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial
instrument classified as a liability, are presented as costs
or income. Distributions to holders of financial
instruments classified as equity capital will be charged
directly to equity capital.
Costs of equity capital transactions
Transaction costs directly linked to an equity capital
transaction are charged directly to equity capital net
of taxes.
Translation differences
Translation differences occur in connection with currency
differences in the consolidation of foreign entities.
1.20 Employee benefits
Defined benefit pension schemes
Defined benefit pension schemes are valued at the
present value of future pension benefits seen as earned
in accounting terms as at the balance sheet date. Pension
fund assets are valued at fair value.
Since 2013, the enterprise has applied IAS 19 Employee
Benefits (June 2011) (“IAS 19R”) and has amended the
basis for calculating pension liabilities and pension costs.
Previously, the enterprise had used the corridor approach
for accounting for unamortised actuarial gains and
losses. Use of the corridor approach is no longer
accepted, and under IAS 19R, all actuarial gains and
losses are charged directly to equity.
Previously, returns on pension funds were calculated
using a long-term forecast return on pension funds.
As a consequence of the application of IAS 19 R, net
interest expense for the period is now calculated by
applying the discount rate for the liability at the outset
of the period to the net liability. Net interest expense
therefore comprises interest on the liability and the
return on the assets, both calculated using the discount
rate. Changes in net pension commitment as a consequence of premium payments and disbursements
of pensions are taken into account. The difference
between the actual return on the pension funds

and the value recognised in the income statement is
charged on an ongoing basis to equity.
Pension earnings (service cost) and net interest income
(-expense) for the period are recognised in the income
statement immediately.
Gains and losses on curtailments or settlements of a
defined benefit pension scheme are recognised in the
income statement at the time the curtailment or
settlement occurs.
A curtailment occurs when the company adopts a
significant reduction in the number of employees
encompassed by a scheme or changes the conditions
governing a defined benefit pension scheme in such a
way that a significant portion of the future earnings
of current employees no longer qualifies for benefits
or qualifies only for reduced benefits.
The introduction of a new defined benefit plan or an
improvement to an existing defined benefit plan entails
changes in the pension commitment. This is expensed
on a straight-line basis until the effect of the change
has been earned. The introduction of new schemes or
changes to existing schemes with a retroactive effect
in such a way that the employees will immediately
accumulate a paid-up policy (or changes to a paid-up
policy) is recognised in the income statement with
immediate effect. Gains or losses relating to reductions
in or the termination of pension plans are recognised
in the income statement when they occur.
Defined contribution plan
In addition to the defined benefit plan described above,
the other companies owned by the company have paid
contributions to local pension plans. The contributions
have been to the pension plan for full-time employees.
The pension premium is expensed when incurred.
1.21 Provisions
A provision is made in the accounts when the company
has a commitment (legal or self-imposed) as a conse-
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quence of a past event, it is likely (more likely than not)
that a financial settlement will occur as a consequence
of this commitment and the size of the amount can
be measured reliably. If the effect is significant, the
provision is calculated by discounting expected future
cash flows at a discount rate before tax that reflects
the market’s pricing of the time value of money and, if
relevant, risks specifically related to the commitment.
A provision for a guarantee is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold. The provision
is based on historical information about guarantees
and a weighting of possible outcomes in relation to
the likelihood of their occurrence.
Restructuring provisions are recognised when the
company has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the restructuring has either commenced
or has been announced.
Provisions for loss-making contracts are recognised
when the forecast income of the company from a
contract is lower than the unavoidable costs incurred in
meeting the commitments provided for in the contract.
The ships are subject to continuous classification and
maintenance programmes. Maintenance costs as a consequence of classification are recognised when incurred.
1.22 Contingent liabilities and
contingent assets
Contingent liabilities are not recorded in the annual
financial statements. Information is provided on
significant contingent liabilities except with respect
to contingent liabilities where the probability of the
liability is low.
A contingent asset will not be recorded in the annual
financial statements, but information is provided if
there is a certain degree of probability that a benefit
will accrue to the company.

1.23 Events after the balance sheet date
Account is taken in the financial statements of new
information that comes to light after the balance
sheet date about the financial position of the company.
Events after the balance sheet date that do not affect
the financial position of the company as at the balance
sheet date, but that might affect the financial position
of the company in the future, are disclosed if considered
significant.
1.24 Changes in accounting policies,
new standards and interpretations
The company implemented two new accounting
standards in 2018.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The
company applied the new standard in the financial year
from 1 January 2018. The standard has been adopted by
the European Union. Changes to IFRS 9 relate primarily
to three separate areas: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting.
Under IFRS 9, financial assets are measured by three
different methods: fair value through profit or loss, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and
amortised cost. The assets are classified in the various
categories on the basis of the business model of the
company and the conditions governing contractual
cash flows. In terms of financial liabilities, the rules
largely coincide with those of IAS 39. The change
related to value changes from own credit risk is not
relevant for the Group because the Group has not
designated liabilities as measured at fair value using
the fair value option.
The standard introduces a new model for assessing
impairment based on expected credit losses (as compared
with incurred credit loss under IAS 39). The impairment
model in IFRS 9 takes the form of a three-stage model
based on changes in the credit risk of the financial
assets. In Stage 1, the company must make a loss
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allowance for 12-month expected credit losses. In Stage
2, a loss allowance is made for expected losses over the
full lifetime of the asset. Stage 3 means that a loss event
has occurred and the impairment is measured in the
same way as in Stage 2, that is to say on an amount
corresponding to lifetime expected credit losses, but
with interest revenue being calculated on the basis of
impaired value. The rules include a simplified approach
to trade receivables, according to which companies may,
instead of assessing whether credit risk has increased
since initial recognition, directly recognise a provision
corresponding to lifetime expected credit loss for the
receivable, in other words: proceed directly to Stage 2.
In assessing the effect of the new rules no significant
accounting effects for the financial statements of the
Group have come to light.
Hedge accounting under IFRS 9 involves several changes.
The 80-125 per cent hedge effectiveness requirement
has been replaced with an overall assessment of the
effectiveness of the hedge. The rules also introduce
new requirements for calculating the time value of an
option, with initial recognition in other comprehensive
income rather than profit or loss. Changes in the time
value of options are estimated to have an insignificant
effect on the financial reporting of the group.
IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with
Customers
In the spring of 2014, the IASB adopted a new standard
for revenue recognition, with implementation effective
from 1 January 2018. The standard has been adopted by
the European Union.
The standard establishes a new framework for the
recognition and measurement of revenues, based on
the fundamental principle that revenue recognition
must reflect the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. The company has performed an assessment
of the implications of implementing IFRS 15. The
revenues of the Group are based largely on deliveries of
services on board the Group’s ships, sales in stores and

online (the retail business) and the sale of raw materials
(EPS) from factories. Assessments of the various business
areas have not brought to light significant consequences
for the financial statements of the company or the
recognition of revenue.
1.25 New standards and interpretations that
have not entered into force
The company has not chosen early application of any
standards or interpretations entering into force after
the reporting date. An overview is provided below of
the most important rules adopted by the IASB.
IFRS 16 Leases
At the start of 2016, the IASB adopted a new standard
for leases, with implementation from 1 January 2019.
The general rule under the new standard is that the
lessees must recognise all contracts of lease in the balance
sheet. The lessee must recognise the lease liability and
the associated “right-of-use” asset, i.e. the right to use
the underlying asset over the term of the lease.
Under IFRS 16 there will for the lessee no longer be a
distinction between finance and operating leases. The
company elects (in accordance with IFRS16.4) not to
apply IFRS 16 to intangible assets. Moreover, shortterm contracts of lease (with maximum terms of 12
months) and leases of low value assets (where the value
of the underlying property when new is low) in accordance with IFRS16.5 are reported as a lease payment
and are not included in the right-of-use assessment.
In its implementation of IFRS 16 the company will
apply the modified retrospective method, cf. IFRS16.
C5(b). This means, inter alia, that the comparative
figures are not restated. Moreover, the company will
report right-of-use assets corresponding to the present
value of future lease liabilities for these assets at the
time of implementation. Based on the contracts of lease
in force at 31 December 2018, this discounted lease
liability is estimated to be NOK 2 240 million, which
also corresponds to the right-of-use asset.
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The discount rate
In determining the present value of the lease liabilities,
the incremental borrowing rate, as it is termed, is
applied. (IFRS16.26 cf. IFRS16.BC162). The incremental
borrowing rate is determined by building up a specific
synthetic rate of interest for each underlying asset. The
basis for this rate is external factors (e.g. currency and
term) with the addition of company-specific elements
(e.g. the company’s debt-to-equity ratio and the nature
of its business) and, finally, property-specific adjustments (adjustments related to the type of property etc.).
The terms of the contracts of lease
In assessing the lease terms of the individual contracts
of lease, account is taken of any options, in so far as
there is a reasonable degree of certainty that the options
will be exercised. In assessing the question of whether
options will be exercised account has been taken of
the fact that some of the assets may be linked to other
assets (owned as well as leased), so that lease terms and
times of use are naturally interrelated. This will, for
example, apply in the case of owned ships in relation
to leased appurtenant terminals, parking areas etc.
Lease payments
The lease payment applied in the calculation of
the lease liability includes all fixed costs relating to
the contract with the addition of accruing indirect
fixed costs and any obligations to return to original
condition by which the company may be bound.
Types of contract and accounting effects
The largest lease liabilities are related to leases on shop
premises in the sports and clothing divisions. The company
also has contracts of lease relating to terminals, queuing
areas in the cruise and transport business areas and
leasing contracts for vehicles and IT equipment. In
addition to the implementation effect of reporting a
liability and a right of use asset in the amount of
approximately NOK 2 240 million, implementation
will involve changes in the company’s statement of other
comprehensive income. Based on 2018 values (contracts
of lease in force at 31 December 2018), the effect on the
EBITDA of the company of the extraction of lease pay-

ments, is estimated to be NOK 513 million in increased
EBITDA for 2019. Correspondingly, amortisations for
2019 increased by NOK 443 million (amortisation of
right-of-use assets) and financial expense will increase
by NOK 95 million, representing interest expense on
reported lease liability.
Other standards
The IASB has also adopted minor changes and
clarifications in several other standards. None of
these amendments are considered to have effects of
significance for the company.
1.26 Alternative Performance Measures
To enhance relevance and comparability the Group
uses three extra performance measures in addition to
those defined through IFRS. These are:
– EBITDA
– EBIT
– Net interest-bearing debt
EBITDA is a measure of the operating profit of the
group before depreciation/amortisation and impairment. Any other revenues and costs of a non-recurring
nature are also extracted in order to ensure that the
figures reported during the various accounting periods
are comparable. Reconciliation to other measures of
performance are shown in the income statement.
EBIT is earnings before interest and tax. Reconciliation
to other measures of performance are shown in the
income statement.
Net interest-bearing debt is defined as non-current
interest-bearing debt with the addition of current interest-bearing debt less funds deposited in bank accounts
and other available liquid assets/cash equivalents with
less than three months to maturity.
The alternative performance measures are applied consistently over time and comparative figures are adjusted
to reflect any changes in definitions.
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Note 2 – Sales revenues
Amounts in NOK 1000

2018

2017

13 851 395

13 173 770

288

150

308 316

297 630

14 159 999

13 471 550

Cruise and Transport

5 141 167

4 967 519

Industrial production

3 751 107

3 390 562

Property

25 023

24 736

Clothing

1 733 035

1 718 288

3 505 503

3 339 491

Total sales revenues comprise the following main items:
Operating income
Gains on sales of operating equipment
Other operating income
Total operating income

The total operating income of the Group is distributed
between the business areas as follows:

Sport
Shipping/other

229 945

348 653

Inter-company sales

-225 781

-317 699

14 159 999

13 471 550

TOTAL
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Note 3 – Cost of sales
Amounts in NOK 1000

2018

2017

Cost of goods/purchased semi-manufactures

3 077 521

2 745 254

Consumption of purchased goods for resale

4 096 117

3 821 563

650 845

610 244

7 824 483

7 177 061

Other costs of sales
Total

Note 4 – Cost of wages
Amounts in NOK 1000

Pay
Payroll taxes

2018

2017

2 058 946

1 947 222

354 312

336 538

Pension costs

101 950

98 805

Other pay-related benefits

198 808

204 622

2 714 016

2 587 187

Total

Refunds of income tax, national insurance contribution and employers’ tax for mariners totalling NOK 323 000
were taken to income in 2018, as compared with NOK 301 000 in 2017. This is reported as a reduction in pay costs.		
				
Of this amount, the Group contributed NOK 9 900 (NOK 9 500 in 2017) to Stiftelsen Norsk Maritim
Kompetanse (Norwegian Maritime Competence Foundation), in accordance with regulations adopted by the
Norwegian Storting.					
The Group employed a total of 4 567 man-years (4 342 in 2017) during the 2018 financial year.
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Note 5 – Benefits/remunerations paid to the
CEO, directors and the auditor
Benefits to senior personnel
Director’s fee expensed in 2018 totalled NOK 750.
The CEO received remuneartion totalling NOK 167
(NOK 166 in 2017) including additional benefits.
					
Loans to senior employees of the Group total NOK
13 294 (NOK 13 091 in 2017). Interst is charged at
the rate stipulated by the Tax Directorate for loans to
employees. In addition, bonues agreements have been
concluded with certain senior employeed. Provisions
have been made for latent commitments.		
				
Auditor’s fees
The fees paid to the company’s auditor, Deloitte AS,
were as follows:

Amounts in NOK 1000

Fees for statutory audit
Other assurance engagements
Tax advice
Other non-audit services
Total

2018

2017

6 406

6 282

714

531

2 021

185

959

771

10 100

7 769

In so far as VAT has been deductible, the auditor’s fees are stated exclusive of VAT.		
Remuneration paid to other accounting firms for statutory auditing services for the Group total
NOK 482, other assurance engagements NOK 22, tax advice NOK 794 and other services NOK 0.
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Note 6 – Financial items
Amounts in NOK 1000

2018

2017

5 107

6 438

94 179

4 221

5 652

59 769

104 938

70 428

327 612

342 495

1 873

44 129

Change in value, market-traded current assets

42 356

46 047

Other financial expense

71 767

62 910

Total financial expenses

443 608

495 581

Net financial items

-338 670

-425 153

Financial income
Interest received
Change in value, market-traded current assets
Other financial income
Total financial income
Financial expenses
Interest expense
Foreign exchange losses
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Note 7 – Financial risk
– use of financial instruments
Capital management
Parts of the surplus liquidity of the Group are invested
in shares quoted on Oslo Børs. Investments of this
nature will be subject to changes in price and are
exposed to risk.
Financial risk
The Group makes use of financial instruments such
as bank loans and bond loans. The purpose of these
financial instruments is to fund investments necessary
to the business of the Group. In addition, the Group
holds financial instruments such as trade receivables,
trade payables etc. that are directly linked to the dayto-day operations of the business. The Group holds
certain financial derivatives for hedging purposes.
The Group does not hold financial instruments,
including financial derivatives, for trading purposes.
Procedures for managing risk have been adopted by
the Board and are implemented by a central finance
function working in collaboration with the individual
operating entities.
The main financial risks to which the Group is exposed
are related to interest rates, liquidity, foreign exchange
and credit. Group management monitors these risks
on an on-going basis and lays down guidelines for risk
management.
The Group uses financial instruments to hedge against
the risk associated with fluctuations in interest rate
levels and foreign currencies. In accordance with the
Group’s strategy for interest rate and foreign exchange
exposure, financial derivatives are used to ameliorate
this risk. The recognition of financial derivatives in the
financial statements is discussed in Note 1.

(i) Credit risk
The Group’s main exposure to credit risk is related to
trade receivables and other current receivables. The
Group reduces its credit risk exposure by requiring
that all counterparties granted credit – for example
customers – undergo a process of approval and an
assessment of creditworthiness.
The Group has no significant credit risk relating to any
individual counterparty or multiple counterparties that
could be viewed as a group.
The Group has guidelines in place for ensuring that
sales are confined to customers that have encountered
no serious problems with payment in the past and that
outstanding amounts never exceed predetermined
credit limits.
(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its
financing activities (see Note 8). Part of the interestbearing debt is subject to variable interest rates, as a
consequence of which changes in interest rate levels
impact upon the Group.
The goal of the Group’s management of interest rate
risk is to reduce interest expense while at the same time
keeping the volatility of future interest rate payments
within acceptable limits. The strategy of the Group
is that a part of the company’s exposure to changes in
interest rate levels should be hedged with the aid of
fixed rates of interest.
(iii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the Group will be unable to
service its financial obligations as they come due. The
strategy of the Group for managing liquidity risk is to
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hold sufficient liquid assets for it at all times to be able
to meet its financial commitments by their due date,
under normal circumstances, without the risk of loss
or damage to the reputation of the Group. Unused
loan facilities are discussed in Note 17.
(iv) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the value of
the Norwegian kroner relative to other currencies since
it conducts sales and purchases in a range of different
countries and currencies. The Group concludes forward
contracts and option agreements with the aim of reducing foreign exchange risk in cash flows denominated in
foreign currencies. Foreign exchange risk is calculated
for each individual foreign currency and account is taken
of assets and liabilities, off-balance-sheet commitments
and very probable purchases and sales in the currency
in question.
The fair value of derivatives designated as hedging
instruments is recorded in the accounts as other
current assets/other current liabilities or other noncurrent assets/other non-current liabilities, depending
on the maturity of the associated hedged item.

Capital structure and equity capital
The primary objective of the Group’s management of
its capital structure is to ensure that the Group at all
times maintains a satisfactory credit rating and, as a
consequence, is able to obtain reasonable borrowing
terms from lenders, proportionate to the business
conducted. Ensuring satisfactory ratios for equity
capital and debt will enable the Group to support the
business conducted.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes the
necessary changes on the basis of a continuous assessment of the financial conditions under which
the business operates and the outlook identified for
the short and medium term.
The company monitors its capital structure by focusing
on the debt ratio, which is defined as net interestbearing debt divided by equity capital plus net
interest-bearing debt.
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Note 8 – Non-current interest bearing debt,
mortgages and guarantees
Amounts in NOK 1000

Non-current loans (book value)

2018

2017

Mortgage debt

3 583 184

4 031 343

Bond loans (listed on Oslo Stock Exchange)

2 560 122

1 874 906

20 907

25 670

6 164 213

5 931 919

710 574

675 150

Other non-current debt
Total interest-bearing non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current portion of mortgage debt
Redemptions, bond loans

503 000

-

528 991

699 572

Total interest-bearing current liabilities

1 742 565

1 374 722

Total interest-bearing liabilities

7 906 778

7 306 641

10 498 270

9 544 011

3 128 569

1 985 291

Bank overdraft/drawing facilities

Book value of assets furnished as security

Fair Value
Fair value of bond loans (quoted market price at year end)

For the other items the book values are considered to be reasonable estimates of the fair values.
The Group’s borrowing agreements contain covenants concerning liquidity, equity capital and debt service coverage
ratio. The Group complied with all borrowing conditions as at 31 December 2018.
Interest rate terms for all loans and credits are fixed in accordance with NIBOR with the addition of an agreed
margin. Interest rates applicable as at year-end were as follows:
Interest rates applicable as at year-end were as follows:

2018

2017

Mortgage debt

3.61%

2.61%

Bond debt

5.30%

5.87%
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Instalment structure of long-term mortgage debt and bond debt:
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Mortgages

Bond debt

710 574

503 000

1 – 2 years

1 618 594

987 000

2 – 3 years

801 989

-

3 – 4 years

458 227

700 000

5 years and above

704 374

873 122

4 293 758

3 063 122

Currency

NOK

-

6 520 873

EUR

79 162

786 873

DKK

44 355

58 992

Less than 1 year

Currency breakdown for non-current interest-bearing debt
NOK

Total

7 366 738
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Note 9 – Taxes
Amounts in NOK 1000

The tax cost for the year breaks down as follows:
Tax payable

2018

2017

27 111

134 468

Change in deferred tax

34 004

-6 549

Change in tax rate in Norway

-31 228

-34 170

-12

5 744

29 875

99 493

2018

2017

Pre-tax profit/loss

113 305

544 646

Permanent differences

152 412

-11 649

Change in temporary differences

219 926

53 237

485 643

586 234

2018

2017

3 505 307

3 544 151

Profit and Loss Account

176 083

220 022

Current assets

-171 466

-217 846

Financial assets and other differences

-192 976

-9 454

-

-84 476

-148

-69

3 316 800

3 452 328

731 696

793 467

Insufficient/excess provided for tax payable previous years
Total tax cost

Calculation of year’s tax basis

Tax basis for year
Breakdown of temporary differences
PP&E

Interest deduction carried forward
Carry-forward loss
Total
Deferred tax

Explanation for why the tax cost for the year does not make up
23% of the pre-tax result:
2018
23% tax on pre-tax loss

26 060

Permanent differences (23%)

35 055

Effect of change in tax rate in Norway

-12

Insufficient provision, past years

-31 228

Estimated tax cost

29 875
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Note 10 – Intangible assests
Amounts in NOK 1000

Goodwill

Software
and licences

Other
intangibles

Total

1 103 866

663 159

136 385

1 903 410

Additions

18 750

994

19 744

Disposals

-

-3 231

-3 231

1

1

-

370

370

1 103 866

681 909

134 519

1 920 294

-

-256 151

-109 079

-365 230

-

3 121

3 121

-48 658

-7 116

-55 774

-

-

-

-3

-320

-323

-

-304 812

-113 394

-418 206

1 103 866

377 097

21 125

1 502 088

5-20 years

5-20 years

Acquisition cost as at 1 Jan. 2018

Reclassifications
Translation of acquisition cost
Acquisition cost as at
31 Dec. 2018		
Accumulated amortisation and
write-downs 1 Jan. 2018
Acc. depreciation year’s disposals
Amortisation for the year
Write-downs
Translation of acc. amortisation
and write-downs
Acc. amortisation and writedowns as at 31 Dec. 2018
Balance sheet value as at
31 Dec. 2018		
Estimated useful life

Software and licences are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. Goodwill is not amortised.
Goodwill relates to the acquisition of businesses and appertains largely to the business areas Cruise and Transport in
the amount of NOK 313 675, Sports with NOK 543 164 and Clothing with NOK 242 795.
Goodwill is tested for impairment.

Notes - Group

47

Note 11 – Property, plant and equipment
Amounts in NOK 1000

Machinery, Buildings, Construction
Ships etc. equipment etc. plant, land
in progress
Acquisition cost as at 1 Jan. 2018

Total

9 024 651

2 677 721

2 552 130

223 061

14 477 563

Additions

243 556

156 409

67 264

90 375

557 604

Disposals

-

-351 282

-1 554

-407

-353 243

Reclassifications

-

23 811

12 256

-36 067

-

190

20 301

-

10 715

9 396

Acquisition cost as at
31 Dec. 2018		

Translation of acquisition cost

9 268 207

2 517 374

2 639 492

Accumulated depreciation as at
1 Jan. 2018

-3 625 512

-2 028 135

-1 257 648

-

336 384

39

336 423

-328 017

-180 376

-113 798

-622 191

-17 845

-

-

-17 845

-

-7 003

-3 933

-10 936

Acc. depreciation year’s disposals
Depreciation for the year
Write-downs
Translation of acc. depreciation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31 Dec. 2018

-3 971 374

-1 879 130 -1 375 340

Balance sheet value as at
31 Dec. 2018		

5 296 833

638 244

1 264 152

Estimated useful life

5-35 years

5-10 years

5-20 years

277 152 14 702 225

-

-6 911 295

-

-7 225 844

277 152

7 476 381

Contstruction in progress and land are not depreciated. All other property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over estimated useful life.
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Note 12 – Subsidiaries, associated
companies and other shares
The following subsidiaries are consolidated in the accounts:
Company name

Office address

Company name

Office address

O.N. Sunde Eiendom AS

Oslo

Breivikgården AS

Oslo

ONS Shipholding III AS

Oslo

ONS Invest II AS

Oslo

Gresvig Stormarked AS

Askim

Gresvig AS

Askim

Gresvig Retail Group AS

Askim

Color Group AS

Oslo

Kristiansand Line AS

Oslo

Color Line AS

Oslo

ONS ShipFinance AS

Oslo

Voice Holding AS

Oslo

Sunpor Technology AS

Oslo

Voice Norge AS

Oslo

Gresvig Detaljhandel AS

Askim

Scandi Line AS

Oslo

ONS Ship Invest 1 AS

Oslo

Retail Group AS

Oslo

Intersport Norge AS

Askim

Alcam AS

Oslo

Intersport Detaljhandel AS

Askim

Sunpor AS

Oslo

Color Line Cruises AS

Oslo

I/S Jahre Line

Oslo

Color Line Transport AS

Oslo

Larvik Line AS

Oslo

Color Line Crew AS

Oslo

Bergen Line AS

Oslo

Color Line Marine AS

Sandefjord

Norway Line AS

Oslo

Color Line Verksted AS

Sandefjord

Gresvig Service AS

Askim

Color Scandi Line AS

Oslo

Hagen Sport AS

Elverum

Larvikterminalen AS

Oslo

Gresvig Holding AS

Oslo

Intersport Detail A/S

Denmark

Oslo Line AS

Oslo

Color Hotel Skagen A/S

Skagen, Denmark

Terminalbygget AS

Oslo

Color Line Danmark A/S

Hirtshals, Denmark

Tuenveien 70 AS

Oslo

Hirtshals Skipsproviantering A/S Hirtshals, Denmark

Color Hotels AS

Oslo

Sunpor Kunststoff GmbH

St. Pölten, Austria

Sykkel og Sport AS

Stord

Sunpor Holding GmbH

St. Pölten, Austria

Intersport Evje AS

Evje

Sportshuset Outlet AS

Oslo

Color Line GmbH

Kiel, Germany

Sportshuset Holding AS

Oslo
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Investments in associates
Company name

Office address

Victoria Seeds Ltd

Kampala, Uganda

Ålesund Stadion KS

Ålesund

Other investsments

Book value

Stake

6 475

50,0%

25 430

44,0%

15 641
47 546

Note 13 – Inventories
Amounts in NOK 1000

Retail goods/Goods for resale
Raw materials and semi-manufactures

2018

2017

1 705 794

1 798 299

230 658

209 321

21 090

23 811

1 957 542

2 031 431

Consumables/Bunker fuel
Total

Note 14 – Trade receivables
Amounts in NOK 1000

2018

2017

Trade receivables

414 277

495 440

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

-29 382

-23 983

384 895

471 457

Total

Losses realised on trade receivables total NOK 5 107 (NOK 5 059 in 2017). The losses are classified in the
income statement as other operating costs.
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Note 15 – Close associates
Close associates are all companies in the O.N. Sunde
Group, as well as its owners. In addition, the directors,
Group President and chief executive officers of the
sub-groups are classified as close associates.		
				
All the shares of O.N. Sunde AS are owned by Olav
Nils Sunde and his family. At yearend, shareholders
directly and indirectly held a net interest-bearing claim
on O.N. Sunde AS totalling NOK 38.2 million (2017:
NOK 1.7 million). A dividend of NOK 250 million was
paid out in 2018 (NOK 100 million in 2017).		
				

Transactions have been conducted with directors.
These transactions are recorded in dedicated accounts
in the financial statements and were conducted on
arm’s length terms. The Chairman of the Board,
Morten Garman, is a partner in the law firm of
Gram, Hambro & Garman. 				
		
In 2018, the Group purchased legal services from this
law firm for a total value of NOK 0.5 million. This
value was NOK 179 million (2017: NOK 129 million).
					

Note 16 – Bank deposits, other shares
and securities
Amounts in NOK 1000

Non-distributable tax withholding funds

2018

2017

687

3 558

The bank deposits and cash equivalents of the Group totalled NOK 1 288 million as at 31 December 2018.		
In addition, the Group has unutilised drawing rights of NOK 2 014 million.					
Shares are listed shares valued at fair value as at 31 December 2018. 					
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Note 17 – Number of shares, shareholders etc.
Share capital

Number

Nominal value

Balance sheet value

A shares

8 355 836

27,32

228 281 440

B shares

10 038 589

27,32

274 254 251

Total share capital

18 394 425

502 535 691

Class A shares carry voting rights; the B shares carry no voting rights. 					
The Articles of Association contain provisions restricting the dividend per share payable on share class B.			
		

Note 18 – Equity
Amounts in NOK 1000

Share
capital

Share
premium
account

Other
equity

Total
equity capital

502 536

163 445

1 543 056

2 209 037

Profit for the year

445 153

445 153

Hedge accounting

5 701

5 701

43 925

43 925

-100 000

-100 000

41

41

1 937 876

2 603 857

Equity at 31 December 2016

Translation difference
Dividend distributed
Other changes
Equity at 31 December 2017

502 536

163 445

Profit for the year

83 430

83 430

Hedge accounting

-175 146

-175 146

-9 965

-9 965

-250 000

-250 000

-20 815

-20 815

1 565 380

2 231 361

Translation difference
Dividend distributed
Other changes
Equity at 31 December 2018

502 536

163 445
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Note 19 – Pensions
The Group has defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. Shore-based personnel have
defined contribution pension schemes and maritime
personnel have defined benefit pension schemes.
Defined contribution scheme
Under this scheme, the company pays an annual
premium to a life assurance company, which manages
the contributions on behalf of the employees.
The annual premium is charged to expense by the
companies. The year’s injection into the defined

contribution scheme has been expensed in the amount
of NOK 54 936 (2017: NOK 51 296).		
Defined benefit scheme
In addition to the group pension scheme for seagoing
personnel, which includes 1 246 members, some
shore-based personnel are encompassed by a
contractual early retirement scheme (AFP).
In addition, the Group pays the ship owner’s
share of the pension plan for seamen. In 2018,
this totalled NOK 29 500 (2017: NOK 28 600).

The year’s pension cost (return) for the defined benefit schemes was as follows:
Amounts in NOK 1000

Economic assumptions
Discount rate

2018

2017

2.60%

2.40%

Forecast pay increase

2.75%

2.50%

Forecast adjustments of pensions for payment

0.80%

0.50%

Forecast increase in G value 1

2.50%

2.25%

Forecast return

2.60%

2.40%

Year’s pension earnings

13 871

14 741

Interest cost on pension liability

6 345

6 807

-5 864

-5 971

805

780

2 138

2 307

17 295

18 664

287 829

257 590

-254 435

-242 828

4 709

2 081

38 103

16 843

Year’s pension cost

Forecast yield on pension fund assets
Administrative expenses
Payroll taxes
Pension cost
Reconciliation of pension liability and pension fund assets with
amount recorded in BS
Present value of accrued pension liability
Value of pension fund assets
Payroll taxes
Pension liability recorded in balance sheet

The pension schemes fulfill the statutory requirements applicable to service pension schemes.
1

Basic National Insurance amount
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Note 20 – Other current debt
Beløp i NOK 1000

2018

2017

Prepaid income

203 159

206 681

Salaries, holiday pay

244 681

101 597

Accrued interests

23 423

20 843

Accrued expenses

111 267

163 037

Financial commitments

156 238

3 292

Other current debt

367 351

307 851

1 106 119

803 301

Total

Note 21 – Other Expenses
In connection with the reorganisation of Gresvig and
the establishment of an outlet business, other costs
have been incurred, as shown on a separate line in the
income statement. In total, this item amounts to NOK

247.9 million and relates primarily to the writing down
of inventories and costs associated with provisions for
contracts of lease.

Note 22 – Events after the balance sheet date
On 10 January 2019, the M/S Color Carrier embarked
on her maiden voyage on the new freight route from
Oslo to Kiel, thereby marking Color Line’s commitment to sustainable and environmentally-friendly
freight solutions.				
The ship is a Ro-Ro vessel built at the Fosen shipyard in
1998 and was purchased for the sum of EUR 15 million.
						
In January 2019, Sandefjord’s Municipal Executive
Board adopted a resolution to offer a “second crossing
group” with departure times at 07:00 and 13:30 to

Color Line on the Sandefjord to Strömstad service.
An agreement to this effect was concluded by Sandefjord Municipality and Color Line in February 2019.
This agreement will enable Color Line to continue
to operate the environmentally-upgraded M/S Color
Viking on this service from 2020 onwards together
with the M/S Color Hybrid.
The market value of concluded future hedging
contracts for the delivery of bunker fuel in 2019,
2020 and 2021 has developed favourably since
31 December 2018.
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Note 23 – Disputes
Color Line and Color Group have been sued by Nye
Kystlink AS, who are claiming damages of up to
approximately NOK 1 303 million. Oslo District Court
dismissed the action in its entirety on the grounds
of time-barring. Nye Kystlink AS have appealed the
judgment. Based on an assessment of the claims in
the writ, it has not been considered necessary for
provisions to be made in the accounts for the claim.
						
					

The European Commission is investigating if a purchasing cooperation in which Sunpor participates, is
in breach of the European antitrust regulations. In the
judgement of the Directors, the cooperation is fully
legal and Sunpor is fully cooperating with the ongoing
investigations. In this regard, it has not been considered
necessary for provisions to be made in the accounts.
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Income Statement
Figures in NOK 1000

Note

2018

2017

Operating revenues
License revenues

85 093

82 687

Total operating revenues

85 093

82 687

Operating expenses
Cost of wages

2

45 240

37 901

Other operating expenses

3

48 004

41 227

93 244

79 128

-8 151

3 559

51

39

Operating profit

-8 202

3 520

Financial income

735 100

632 969

Financial expense

-142 671

-112 656

592 429

520 313

584 227

523 833

148 193

120 921

436 034

402 912

Total operating expenses
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA)
Ordinary depreciation

Net financial items

5

13

Operating profit/loss before taxes
Tax cost

4

Profit/loss for the year

The company has no other items charged to the total comprehensive income.
The total comprehensive income corresponds with the income statement.
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Balance Sheet – Assets
Figures in NOK 1000

Note

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

4

1 107

12 110

1 107

12 110

7 573

7 624

7 573

7 624

372 625

414 762

25 165

25 772

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax asset
Total intangible non-current assets

Tangible non-current assets
Office machines, vehicles, FF&E

5

Total tangible non-current assets
Non-current financial assets
Loans to companies in same Group

12

Other non-current receivables
Investments in associate companies and other shares

6

6 475

6 871

Investments in subsidiaries

6

5 413 273

5 441 160

Total non-current financial assets

5 817 538

5 888 565

Total non-current assets

5 826 218

5 908 299

126 571

114 185

12

1 615 785

773 500

8

11 967

12 267

Total current assets

1 754 323

899 952

Total assets

7 580 541

6 808 251

Current assets
Other shares and securities
Other receivables, incl. claims on group companies
Bank deposits, cash in hand etc.
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Balance Sheet – Equity and liabilities
Figures in NOK 1000

Note

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

9,10

502 536

502 536

10

163 445

163 445

665 981

665 981

4 374 501

4 184 811

Retained earnings

4 374 501

4 184 811

Total equity

5 040 482

4 850 792

Other provisions for commitments

6 866

12 914

Total provisions and commitments

6 866

12 914

7

516 114

578 274

12

513 608

159 703

1 029 722

737 977

62 166

62 166

1 620

1 455

1 257

4 074

619

4 669

1 391 692

1 118 264

46 117

15 940

Total current liabilities

1 503 471

1 206 568

Total equity and liabilities

7 580 541

6 808 251

Equity capital
Share capital
Share Premium
Total contributed capital
Other equity

10

Provisions and commitments

Non-current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions
Non-current debt to Group companise
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current debt to credit institutions

7

Trade payables
Trade payables to Group companies

4

Unpaid special taxes
Debt to Group Companies

12

Other non-current debt

Oslo, 27 March 2019

Olav Nils Sunde

Bjørn Paulsen

Morten Garman

Alexander Sunde

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

CEO
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Statement of Cash Flows 1 Jan. - 31 Dec.
Figures in NOK 1000

Note

2018

2017

584 227

523 833

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/loss before tax
Tax paid

4

-4 074

-5 439

Ordinary depreciations

5

51

39

20 818

-19 953

Change in inventories, debtors, creditors
Change in other accruals

-277 385

-620 735

Net cash flow from operating activities

323 637

-122 255

-

-234

Change in other investments

-11 777

285 430

Net cash flow from investing activities

-11 777

285 196

Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in non-current assets

5

Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of old debt

-62 160

-62 160

Dividend payments

7

-250 000

-100 000

Net cash flow from financing activities

-312 160

-162 160

-300

781

Net change in liquid resources during year
Cash and bank deposits at 1 Jan.

8

12 267

11 486

Cash and bank deposits at 31 Dec.

8

11 967

12 267

Notes - Parent Company

Note 1 –Accounting principles
The annual financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting
practice.
The use of estimates
In preparing the annual financial statements, the management has applied estimates and assumptions that have
impacted on the income statement and the valuation of
assets and liabilities, as well as on uncertain assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet date, in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practice.
Consolidation
The company is the parent in the O.N. Sunde Group
and complete consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with simplified IFRS.
Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the
rate of exchange at the time of the transaction. Monetary
items in foreign currency are translated to Norwegian
kroner by applying the rate of exchange on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items measured at historical
cost expressed in foreign currency are translated into
Norwegian kroner by applying the rate of exchange
at the time of the transaction. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value expressed in foreign currency are
translated using the rate of exchange determined on
the balance sheet date. Changes in exchange rates are
recorded in the income statement as they occur, over
the course of the accounting period.
Operating revenues
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognised when
delivery takes place. Services are recognised in line
with delivery.

Taxes
The tax cost in the income statement comprises both
taxes payable in the period and changes in deferred
tax. Deferred tax is calculated at the rate of 22 per
cent based on the temporary differences existing
between accounting and tax values, as well as tax loss
for carrying forward at the end of the financial year.
Tax-increasing and tax-reducing temporary differences
that are reversed or are reversible in the same period
are offset and recorded at net value. Taxes payable and
deferred tax are charged directly to equity insofar as
the tax items relate to items charged directly to equity.
Classification and valuation of balance sheet items
Non-current assets encompass assets intended for
permanent ownership and use. Non-current assets are
valued at cost. Tangible non-current assets are recorded
in the balance sheet and depreciated over the economic
life of the asset. Tangible non-current assets are written
down to recoverable amount in the event of reductions in value that are not expected to be temporary
in nature. Recoverable amount is the lower of net sales
value and value-in-use. Value-in-use is the present value
of future cash flow deriving from the asset. The writedown is reversed when the basis for the write-down is
no longer present.
Current assets and current debt normally encompass
items that come due for payment within one year of
the balance sheet date. Current assets are valued at
the lower of cost and estimated fair value.
Shares in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued in accordance
with the cost method of accounting.
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Receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded
at their nominal value less a provision for anticipated
losses. The loss provision is made based on an individual
assessment of each receivable.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the
indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents encompass
cash, bank deposits and other short-term, liquid
investments.

Pension commitments
Pension commitments funded from operations are calculated and recognised in the balance sheet in the item
Provisions for commitments. Pension schemes funded
by insured schemes are not recorded in the balance
sheet. In these cases, the pension premium is treated as
a pension cost and classified together with wage costs.

Short-term investments
Short-term investments (shares and holdings viewed as
current assets) are valued at the lower of cost and fair
value on the balance sheet date. Dividends and other
distributions by the companies are recognised as other
financial income.

Note 2 – Cost of wages
Figures in NOK 1000

2018

2017

38 971

32 816

5 625

4 583

Pension costs

268

254

Other pay-related benefits

376

248

45 240

37 901

Pay
Payroll tax

Total

The company employed seven man-years in 2018 (seven in 2017).		
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Note 3 – Benefits/remunerations paid to the
CEO, Directors and the auditor
Benefits to senior personnel
Director’s fee expensed in 2018 totallted NOK 250
(250 in 2017). The CEO received remuneration
totalling NOK 67 (NOK 66 in 2017). No loans are
granted to the shareholders. Loans to Directors of
the Group total NOK 5 854. Interest is charged at
the rates stipulated by the Tax Directorate for loans
to employees.			

Auditor’s fees
The fees paid to the company’s auditor,
Deloitte AS, were as follows:

Figures in NOK 1000

Fees for statutory audit
Other assurance engagements
Tax advice
Other non-audit services
Total

The auditor’s fees are stated exclusive of VAT.

2018

2017

491

595

20

23

1 615

133

-

163

2 126

914
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Note 4 – Tax
Figures in NOK 1000

The year’s tax cost breaks down as follows:
Tax payable
Change in deferred tax

2018

2017

137 202

122 289

10 941

-2 142

Effect of change in rate of taxation
Total tax cost
Calculation of basis for year’s tax:
Profit/loss before tax cost
Permanent differences
Change in temporary differences
Year's tax basis
Calculated tax payable
Effect of group contribution

50

774

148 193

120 921

2018

2017

584 227

523 833

59 924

-23 221

-9 017

8 926

635 135

509 538

146 081
-146 024

Tax on limited interests deduction

1 200

Tax payable in the balance sheet

1 257

Overview of temporary differences:

2018

2017

-11 314

-20 277

-192

-245

-

-38 606

Provisions
Non-current assets
Interest deduction carried forward
Other differences
Total
22% deferred tax (23% in 2017)

6 475

6 475

-5 030

-52 653

-1 107

-12 110

Explanation for why the tax cost for the year does not make up 23% of the
pre-tax result:
23% tax on pre-tax loss
Permanent differences (23%)

134 372
13 789

Effect of change in rate of taxation

50

Corrections, previous years

-12

Estimated tax cost

148 193
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Note 5 – Non-current assets
Figures in NOK 1000

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2018

Art

FF&E

Total

7 429

7 369

14 798

7 429

7 369

14 798

-

-7 174

-7 174

-51

-51

-

-7 225

-7 225

7 429

144

7 573

0 years

3-5 years

Additions
Acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2018
Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. 2018
Year's depreciation
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. 2018
Balance sheet value 31 Dec. 2018
Depreciation period

Art is not depreciated. All other non-current assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their expected useful life.
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Note 6 – Subsidiaries
O.N. Sunde AS has ownership holdings in the following subsidiaries:

Office

Share
capital

Stake

Balance
sheet value

Equity

Proft/loss
2018

O.N. Sunde Eiendom AS

Oslo

54 934

100.0%

53 966

52 782

-2 655

Sunpor AS

Oslo

12 350

100.0%

163 594

199 166

65 841

ONS Invest II AS

Oslo

1 900

100.0%

2 021 345

1 999 889

852

Alcam AS

Oslo

500

100.0%

31 000

1 209

-21 907

Retail Group AS

Oslo

600

100.0%

3 014 628

2 300 214

-15 615

ONS ShipFinance AS

Oslo

16 279

61.2%

128 213

528 305

5 202

Sunpor Technology AS

Oslo

100

100.0%

134

134

-13

Office

Stake

Balance
sheet value

Tuenveien 70 AS 1

Oslo

1.0%

394

Victoria Seeds Ltd

Uganda

50.0%

6 475

5 412 880
O.N. Sunde AS has ownership holdings in the following associate companies:

1

Other stakes are owned by O.N. Sunde Eiendom AS.
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Note 7 – Non-current interest-bearing debt,
mortgages and guarantees
Figures in NOK 1000

2018

2017

516 114

578 274

62 166

62 166

62 166

62 166

578 280

640 440

Non-current loans
Mortgage debt
Current liabilities
Current portion of mortgage debt
Bank overdraft/drawing facilities
Total interst-bearing current liabilities
Total interest-bearing liabilities

The parent company’s borrowing agreements include covenants concerning equity capital.
All borrowing conditions were fulfilled as at 31 December 2018.
Mortgage debt is secured by charges on shares.
The company has furnished long-term guarantees for subsidiaries in the amount of NOK 550 million.
Interest rate terms for all loans and credits are fixed in accordance with NIBOR with the addition of an agreed
margin. The interest rate applicable to mortgages as at year-end was 4.7 per cent (4.8 per cent in 2017).
Instalment structure, mortgage debt
Less than 1 year

62 166

1 – 2 years

508 614

2 – 3 years

7 500

3 – 4 years

0

5 years and above

0

Total

All loans are in NOK.

578 280
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Note 8 – Bank deposits
Figures in NOK 1000

Non-distributable funds

2018

2017

604

3 548

The company holds a group account together with other companies in the Group.
Net drawings on/deposits in the accounts are treated as current inter-company balances. See also Note 12.		

Note 9 – Number of shares, shareholders etc.
Share capital

Number

Nominal value

Balance sheet value

A shares

8 355 836

27,32

228 281 440

B shares

10 038 589

27,32

274 254 251

Total share capital

18 394 425

502 535 691

Class A shares carry voting rights; the B shares carry no voting rights. 					
The Articles of Association contain provisions restricting the dividend per share payable on share class B.

Note 10 – Equity capital
Figures in NOK 1000

Equity as at 31.12.2017

Share
capital

Share
premium fund

Other
equity

Balance
sheet value

502 536

163 445

4 184 811

4 850 792

436 034

436 034

-250 000

-250 000

3 656

3 656

4 374 501

5 040 482

Year's profit
Dividends
Net group contribution paid and received
Equity as at 31.12.2018

502 536

163 445
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Note 11 – Defined contribution
pension scheme
Figures in NOK 1000

Contribution plan

The company has a defined contribution pension scheme in accordance with the requirements of the Act concerning
Mandatory Occupational Pensions. The defined contribution scheme covers all full-time employees and constitutes
5-8 per cent of their pay. As at 31.12.2018, there were 7 in the scheme.
Contributions expensed totalled NOK 268 and NOK 254 in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Note 12 – Balances with companies in the
group and with associates
Figures in NOK 1000

2018
Receivables, subsidiaries
Receivables, associates
Debt, subsidiaries

2017

Current

Non-current

Current

Non-current

1 538 095

372 625

660 375

414 762

-

11 871

-

12 681

1 391 692

513 608

1 118 264

159 703

The company holds a group account together with other companies in the Group. Net drawings on/deposits in the
accounts are treated as current inter-company balances. As at 31.12.2018 the net receivable was NOK 68 569, as at
31.12.2017 the amount was NOK 109 582.
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Note 13 – Items that have been
combined in the financial statements
Figures in NOK 1000

Financial income

2018

2017

41 477

20 386

570

1 498

-

24 586

3 750

8 834

50 492

36 220

5 116

3 753

633 377

534 257

318

3 435

735 100

632 969

2018

2017

Interest expense, companies in same group

38 710

37 363

Other interest expense

32 336

35 415

Foreign exchange losses

5 602

2 101

532

1 132

Change in value, current financial assets

39 816

36 480

Other financial expenses

25 675

165

Total financial expense

142 671

112 656

Interest income, companies in same group
Other interest received
Result, investment in associate
Foreign exchange gains
Gains on shares
Income on investment in subsidiaries
Received group contributions
Other financial income
Total financial income
Financial expense

Losses on shares
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Deloitte AS
Dronning Eufemias gate 14
Postboks 221 Sentrum
NO-0103 Oslo
Norway
Tel: +47 23 27 90 00
www.deloitte.no

To the General Meeting of O.N. Sunde AS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of O.N. Sunde AS, which comprise:
•

•

The financial statements of the parent company O.N. Sunde AS (the Company), which comprise
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement and cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, and
The consolidated financial statements of O.N. Sunde AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement, statement of
comprehensive income and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:
•
•

•

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.
The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with simplified application of international accounting standards
according to section 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Deloitte AS and Deloitte Advokatfirma AS are the Norwegian affiliates of Deloitte NWE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), its network of member firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are
legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as "Deloitte Global") does not provide services to clients.
Please see www.deloitte.no for a more detailed description of DTTL and its member firms.
© Deloitte AS

Registrert i Foretaksregisteret Medlemmer av
Den norske Revisorforening
Organisasjonsnummer: 980 211 282
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in
accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in accordance with simplified application of international accounting
standards according to the Norwegian Accounting Act section 3-9, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Auditor’s Report

72

Page 3
Independent Auditor's Report O.N. Sunde AS

•

•

•

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and the
going concern assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and
regulations.
Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration
and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 27 March 2019
Deloitte AS

Torgeir Dahle
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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